
STATE OF MINNESOTA  

COUNTY OF HENNEPIN 

  

Minnesota Voters Alliance, John 

Malone, Ronald D. Moey, Laura L. 

Morales, Craig Bartlett, Karen Evelyn 

Mathias, and Daniel John Mathias, 

  

Plaintiffs, 

  

vs. 

 

The City of Minneapolis, a municipality 

incorporated under the laws of the State 

of Minnesota; R.T. Rybak in his official 

capacity as Mayor, or his successor, 

  

Defendants, 

  

and 

  

FairVote Minnesota, Inc., 

Intervenor-Defendant 

Introduction 

 

 

 

 

 

DISTRICT COURT 

FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

Court File No. 27-CV-08-35 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  

1. This is an action for declaratory judgment challenging the constitutionality of a City of 

Minneapolis Charter amendment that affects the conduct of elections and voting methods 

in Minneapolis, Minnesota. The amendment allows for the election of municipal officers 

through the method referred to as Single Transferable Vote, also referred to as Ranked 

Choice Voting or Instant Runoff Voting.  

  

The effect of the conduct of these elections will infringe upon the fundamental 

constitutional individual right to vote, right of association, equal protection, due process 

and those rights retained and inherent by and in the people as secured under the 

Minnesota and United States Constitutions. 

  

2. In addition, Minnesota statutes prohibit the City of Minneapolis from enacting Instant 

Runoff Voting as a method of voting in general elections.  Minneapolis, knowing the 

abridgement of constitutional and statutory law, nevertheless amended its Charter and 

ordinances to adopt and implement Instant Runoff Voting for general municipal 

elections. 

  

3. A declaratory judgment decision will affirm the fundamental constitutional rights 

retained and inherent in and by the people including those regarding the right to a full 



value of one vote as an expression of association to one specific candidate for dle purpose 

of electing that person to office. The declaratory judgment will further affirm the State's 

present laws and rights that govern general elections of Minnesota's cities. 

  

Jurisdiction 

  

4. Jurisdiction of this Court is conferred under Minn. Const. art. VI, Sec. 3, dle Unif01ID 

Declaratory Judgments Act, Minn. Stat. §§ 555.01, et seq., 42  U.S.c. §§ 1983, 1988 and 

other applicable statutes. 

  

Parties 

  

Plaintiffs 

  

5. The Minnesota Voters Alliance is an association of citizens formed in the interest of 

liberty, transparency in government, and a well-informed electorate. 

  

The Alliance's primary issue involves Instant Runoff Voting. Its principal place of 

business is 13541 Carmody Drive, Eden Prairie, Minnesota. 

  

6. John Malone is a Minneapolis resident, taxpayer, and voter residing at 641 4th Street, 

NE, Minneapolis, Minnesota. 

  

7. Ronald D. Moey is a Minneapolis resident, taxpayer, and voter residing at 5229 27th 

Avenue S., Minneapolis, Minnesota. 

  

8. Laura L. Morales is a Minneapolis resident, taxpayer, and voter residing at 1620 E. 

27th Street, Minneapolis, Minnesota. 

  

9. Craig Bartlett Minneapolis is a resident, taxpayer, and voter residing at 6128 5th 

Avenue S., Minneapolis, Minnesota. 

  

10. Karen Evelyn Mathias is a Minneapolis resident, taxpayer, and voter residing at 5436 

29th Avenue S., Minneapolis, Minnesota. 

  

11. Daniel John Mathias is a Minneapolis resident, taxpayer, and voter residing at 5436 

29th Avenue S., Minneapolis, Minnesota.  

  

Defendants 

  

12. The City of Minneapolis is a municipal corporation, incorporated under the laws of 

the State of Minnesota. 

  

13. R.T. Rybak is tl1e Mayor of the City of Minneapolis and is responsible for the 

administration of the law of Minneapolis. 



  

14. Defendant FaitVote Minnesota is a non-profit corporation organized under the laws 

of the State of Minnesota with its principal place of business in Minneapolis, Minnesota. 

Its business purpose is to promote the adoption of alternative voting methods throughout 

Minnesota. By stipulation and consent of 

Plaintiffs' counsel, FairVote has been added as an intervening defendant. 

  

Factual Background 

  

15. The City of Minneapolis allows for electors residing and voting within the City's 

boundaries to choose the Mayor, members of the City Council, members of the Park and 

Recreation Board, members of the Library Board, and members of the Board of Estimate 

and Taxation in the election process. 

  

16. In 2006, the City of Minneapolis elected candidates for the offices of Mayor, City 

Council, members of the Park and Recreation Board, Library Board, and Board of 

Estimate and Taxation. 

  

17. In the election of 2006, Minneapolis voters, the majority or plurality of votes cast and 

counted those receiving the greater number of votes - elected candidates to office. 

  

18. During the election of 2006, regardless of the total number of votes cast for a 

candidate, each candidate received the full value of a one "whole" vote that counted 

numerically as "one." 

  

19. During the election of 2006, no one "whole" vote was divided into a fraction and 

transferred to another candidate or candidates. 

  

20. During the election of 2006, John Malone, Ronald D. Moey, Laura L. Morales, Craig 

Bardett, Karen Evelyn Mathias, and DanielJohn Mathias voted individually once for the 

candidate for elective office of their choice found on the ballot. 

  

21. Each of the votes ofJohn Malone, Ronald D. Moey, Laura L. Morales, Craig Bardett, 

Karen Evelyn Maduas, and Daniel John Mathias during the election of 2006 counted as a 

numeric "one." None of their individual or collective votes were subject to fractional or 

proportionate manipulation or calculations in dle counting of votes for the candidate of 

their choice. 

  

Minneapolis Ballot Question Adopting 

Single Transferable Vote a/k/a Instant Runoff Voting 

  

22. In November 2006, the City of Minneapolis had on the ballot during 

the general election of that year a question that would result, if passed, in the 

amendment to the City's Charter. 

  



23. The question on the ballot stated: 

  

Should the City of Minneapolis adopt Single Transferable Vote, 

sometimes known as Ranked Choice Voting or Instant Runoff Voting, 

as the method for electing the Mayor, City Council, and members of 

the Park and Recreation Board, Library Board, and Board of Estimate 

and Taxation without a separate primary election with ballot format 

and rules for counting votes adopted by ordinance? 

  

24. The ballot passed in November 2006. 

  

25.  The passage of the ballot caused the City of Minneapolis Charter to amend its 

Charter thereby affecting Chapter 2 for the election of officers, specifically provisions 

governing Section SA regarding the conduct of elections, and Section regarding voting 

method. 

  

26. Section 5B of the Minneapolis Charter now reads: 

  

The elected officers shall be elected by the method of Single 

Transferable Vote, sometimes known as Ranked Choice Voting or 

Instant Runoff Voting. The City Council shall, by ordinance, establish 

the ballot format and rules for counting the votes.  

  

The method shall be used for the first municipal election after adoption and all 

subsequent elections unless the City Council certifies, by ordinance, no later than four 

months prior to the election, that the City will not be ready to implement the method in 

that election. Such certification must include the reasons why the City is not ready to 

implement the method. 

  

Minneapolis Passed an Ordinance Detailing Procedures for Instant Runoff Voting, 

Including Identifying the Use of Fractions of a Whole Vote as Distributed to Other 

Candidates. 

  

27. On April 18, 2008 the Minneapolis City Council passed an ordinance detailing the 

procedures for Single Transferred Voting also referred to as Instant Runoff Voting. 

  

28. The April 18, 2008 ordinance includes definitions regarding "surplus fraction": 

Surplus fraction of a vote means the surplus divided by the total votes cast for the elected 

candidate, calculated to four (4) decimal places. Surplus fraction of a 

vote=(Surplus)/(Total votes cast for elected candidate). 

  

29. The formula described in the definition of "surplus fraction" can result in one "whole" 

vote becoming a fraction of that vote cast. 

  



30. The April 18, 2008 ordinance includes definitions regarding "transfer value":  

Transfer value means the fraction of a vote that a transferred ballot will contribute to the 

next ranked continuing candidate on that ballot. The transfer value of a vote cast for an 

elected candidate is calculated by multiplying the surplus fraction of each vote by its 

current value. The transfer value of a vote cast for a defeated candidate is the same as its 

current value. 

  

31. The formula described in the definition of "transfer value" can result in one "whole" 

vote becoming a fraction of that vote cast. 

  

Single Seat Elections Under the Instant Runoff Voting Scheme Requires the Preferenced 

Ranking of Candidates as Opposed to Single Numerical Vote for the Candidate of Choice 

  

32. Under the Instant Runoff Voting scheme there is no primary. 

  

33. Under the Instant Runoff Voting scheme during an election for a single-seat using 

one election the voter is required to rank candidates casting several "choice-votes" in 

order of preference rather than to cast a single vote for one candidate. 

  

34. Under the Instant Runoff Voting scheme if no one candidate receives first-choice 

votes equaling a majority plus one vote cast, the candidate with the least number of first-

choice votes is eliminated and the second-choice votes on those ballots are transferred to 

the remaining candidates. This process is repeated until a 50 percent plus 1 majority is 

achieved. 

  

35. When secondary preferences are included the final count for the election of a 

candidate, the winner of the election is determined by this "preferential majority" voter.  

  

36. A candidate with the most number of first-choice votes in the initial round of 

counting, can be defeated if the second-choice votes awarded to a competitor results in a 

"preferential majority." 

  

Multi-Seat Elections 

  

37. Under the Instant Runoff Voting scheme, during multi-seat elections, using one 

election, the voter is required to rank candidates casting several "choicevotes" in order of 

preference rather than casting one yote for each multi-seat candidate separately. 

  

38. Under the Instant Runoff Voting scheme, during multi-seat elections, when a 

candidate exceeds the number of votes required to be elected, the excess portion of each 

yote for that candidate is transferred proportionality to the next ranked candidate on each 

ballot until a candidate exceeds the number of votes required to be elected. 

  

39. Under the Instant Runoff Voting scheme, during multi-seat elections, the threshold is 

derived from a formula based on the total number of voters and the number of seats to be 



filled. The excess transfer of a proportionate vote can result in fractioning one whole vote 

value, for example, as a one-half or one-third vote value, distributed among two or more 

of the remaining candidates. 

  

40. The Office of the Minnesota Secretary of State, Mark Ritchie, raised concerns about 

the Minneapolis adopted Charter amendment governing Instant Runoff Voting with the 

Minnesota Attorney General's Office in 2007. 

  

41.  The Minnesota Attorney General's Office issued an opinion in August 2007 finding 

the Minneapolis Instant Runoff Voting procedure questionable and likely "not permitted 

in the general election" citing the opinion of the Minnesota Supreme Court decision in 

Brown v. Smallwood, 130 Minn. 429, 153 N.W. 953 (1915). 

  

Minnesota Supreme Court Precendent 

Defines the Word ''Vote'' to Reflect a 

Constitutionally Protected Right to 

Exercise a Choice for One Candidate. 

  

42. The Minnesota Supreme Court stated "[w]hen the Constitution was 

framed, and as used in it, the word 'vote' meant a choice for a candidate by one 

constitutionally qualified to exercise a choice. Since then it has meant nothing else. It was 

never meant that the ballot of one elector, cast for one candidate, could be of greater or 

less effect then the ballot of another elector cast for another candidate. It was to be of the 

same effect" in Brown v. Smallwood, 130 Nlinn. 429, 153 N.W. 953, 956 (1915). 

  

43. The Minnesota Supreme Court decision of Brown v. Smallwood has not been 

overturned. Uniform Declaratory Judgment Action Under Minn. Stat. §§ 555.01 et seq. 

  

44. Minnesota State Statute provides for an interested person affected by a statute, 

municipal ordinance, or franchise to have questions of its validity declared by a court of 

competent jurisdiction. 

  

45. Minnesota Statute § 555.02 states: 

  

Any person interested under a deed, will, written contract, or other 

writings constituting a contract, or whose rights, status, or other legal 

relations are affected by a statute, municipal ordinance, contract, or 

franchise may have determined any question of construction or validity 

arising under the instrument, statute, ordinance, contract, or franchise 

and obtain a declaration of rights, status, or other legal relations 

thereunder. 

  

46. The Plaintiffs are interested persons who seek a declaration of the constitutionality of 

the City of Minneapolis charter Amendment affecting the conduct of elections and the 



method of elections through a method referred to as Single Transferable Vote, also 

known as Ranked Choice Voting or Instant Runoff Voting. 

  

47. An actual controversy exists between Plaintiffs and the City of Minneapolis regarding 

Plaintiffs' constitutional rights and the statutory validity of the Charter amendment under 

the Minnesota and United States Constitutions. 

  

48. The Plaintiffs seek this Court to render a declaratory judgment under the provisions 

of Minn. Stat. §§ 555.01, et seq. and declare that the City of Minneapolis Charter 

amendment and subsequent passage of an ordinance or ordinances affecting the conduct 

of elections and the method of elections through a system referred to as Single 

Transferable Vote, also referred to as Ranked Choice Voting or Instant Runoff Voting is 

unconstitutional under the State and Federal Constitutions and in violation of Minnesota 

statutes. 

  

Claim I 

  

Violation of the Minnesota Constitution 

  

49. The allegations of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated in their  entirety by 

reference. 

  

The Minneapolis Adoption of Instant Runoff Voting Allows for Fractions ofVotes 

Violating the Right to Associate with a Candidate, Disenfranchises the Elector, 

Creates Unequal Treatment of the Value of Votes, and Violates Those Rights Retained 

and Inherent in and by the People. 

  

50. Article I of the Minnesota Constitution embodies the Bill of Rights for Minnesota 

citizens. Article I, Section 2 states: "No member of the state shall be disfranchised or 

deprived of any of the rights or privileges secured to any citizen thereof, unless by the 

law of the land or the judgment of his peers ...." 

  

51. Article I, Section 16 states: "The enumeration of rights in this constitution shall not 

deny or impair others retained by and inherent in the people." 

  

52. Article VII of the Minnesota Constitution also embodies the rights of 

Minnesota citizens regarding the elective franchise. Under Article VII, Section 1 

"[e]very person 18 years of age or more who has been a citizen of the United States for 

three months and who has resided in the precinct for 30 days next preceding an election 

shall be entided to vote in that precinct...." 

  

53. Article VII, Section 6 of the Minnesota Constitution states dlat "[e]very 

person who by the provisions of this article is entitled to vote at any election and is 21 of 

age is eligible for any office elected by the people...." 

  



54. The right to vote is a fundamental right of the people under the 

Minnesota Constitution. 

  

55. The right to associate with others is a fundamental right under the 

Minnesota Constitution. 

  

  

56. A person's vote is an expression of association. 

  

57. A person's vote is an expression of association with a particular candidate seeking 

office in an election contest. 

  

58. Each voter is entitled to have his or her vote counted as a numeric "one" as applied to 

the candidate of his or her choice. 

  

59. The Minneapolis ordinance detailing the procedures for Instant Runoff Voting also 

included the definition for "transferable vote" as meaning "a vote or a fraction of a vote 

for a candidate who has been either elected or defeated." 

  

60. A fraction of a vote is not a "whole" vote and cannot be counted numerically as 

"one". 

   

61. Under Instant Runoff Voting, fractions of a whole vote can be distributed to two or 

more candidates defined as a "transferable vote". 

  

62. Fractions of a whole vote attributed to more than one candidate is unequal treatment 

of all other voters whose votes counted numerically as "one." 

  

63. Fractions of a whole vote attributed to more than one candidate interfere with the 

intent of a voter to associate with one particular candidate. 

  

64. Fractions of a vote distributed to more than one candidate interferes with the voter's 

right of association to give a candidate a "whole" value of the numeric value of "one" 

vote as to be counted for that candidate of choice. 

  

65. A voter's intent to vote for one candidate cannot be equally divided as a fraction 

among other candidates as the expression of the voter's right of association with the 

candidate of his or her choice. 

  

66. The right to vote and the assurance of the vote is counted as cast without impairment 

to or loss of a voter's first choice of electing the candidate of his or her choice is a 

fundamental right under the Minnesota Constitution. 

  

67. Citizens in Minnesota eligible to vote may exercise their right to select a person to 

hold an office that requires an election by the people. 



  

68. The City of Minneapolis Mayor is an office elected by the people. 

  

69. The members of the Minneapolis City Council are offices elected by the people. 

  

70. The members of the Minneapolis Park and Recreation Board are offices elected by 

the people. 

  

71. The members of the Minneapolis Library Board are offices elected by the people. 

  

72. The members of the Minneapolis Board of Estimate and Taxation are offices elected 

by the people. 

  

73. The Minneapolis Charter amendment to affect the conduct of elections and the voting 

method through a method of Single Transferable Vote (Ranked Choice Voting or Instant 

Runoff Voting) and the subsequent ordinance violates Article I and Article VII of the 

Minnesota Constitution. 

  

74. Under the Single Transferred Vote scheme there is no primary. 

  

75. Under the Instant Runoff Voting scheme during an election contest it is anticipated 

that fractions of a vote can occur and a surplus fraction of a vote will be transferred to 

another candidate. 

  

76. Under the Instant Runoff Voting scheme an election for a single-seat using one 

election the voter is required to rank. candidates casting several "choice-votes" in order of 

preference rather than vote for one candidate. If no one candidate receives a majority of 

first-choice votes, the candidate with the least 

number of first-choice votes is eliminated and dle second-choice votes on those ballots 

are transferred to the remaining candidates. This process is repeated until a 50 percent 

plus 1 majority is achieved. 

  

77. Under the Instant Runoff Voting scheme where a transfer of preference choice votes 

occurs, and counted, resulting in a mix of first or second or third preference ranked 

choices, the result is a "preference majority" and not a majority of first-choice votes.   

  

78. Under the Instant Runoff Voting scheme, a candidate receiving the greater number of 

first preference choice votes than any other candidate but less than a majority - even by 

one vote- that candidate can be defeated by another candidate when second-choice 

preference votes are counted to create a preference majority. 

  

79. There is nothing in the Minnesota Constitution that requires or demands 50 percent 

plus 1 majority for a candidate to be elected to an office. 

  



80. Under the Single Transferred Vote scheme, during multi -seat elections, using one 

election - the voter is required to rank. candidates casting several "choice-votes" in order 

of preference rather dlan casting one vote for each multi-seat-candidate separately. When 

a candidate exceeds the number of votes required to be elected, the excess portion of each 

vote for that candidate is transferred proportionality to the next-ranked candidate on each 

ballot until a candidate exceeds the number of votes required to be elected. The threshold 

is derived from a formula based on the total number of voters and the number of seats to 

be filled. 

  

81. The voting methodology of the City of Minneapolis will dilute or threaten to interfere 

with the act of an individual citizen's right to vote and assured of the vote be counted as 

cast without impairment to or loss of a voter's first choice of electing the candidate of his 

or her choice. 

  

82. Plaintiffs have been and continue to be damaged because of the Defendants' 

constitutional violations and seek this Court to declare the Defendants acts as 

unconstitutional under the Minnesota Constitution and grant any other relief deemed 

justified. 

  

Claim II 

  

Violation of the United States Constitution 

  

83. The allegations of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated in their entirety by 

reference. 

  

84. The First Amendment of the United States Constitution protects the right of 

association as well as other rights. 

  

85. The right to vote is a fundamental political right derived from the right of association 

as embodied within the First Amendment of the United States 

Constitution. 

  

86. The right to associate is a protected fundamental right of the people under the United 

States Constitution. 

  

87. A person's vote is an expression of association. 

  

88. A person's vote is an expression of association with a particular candidate seeking 

election to office. 

  

89. The First Amendment protects an individual citizen's right to vote and assurance that 

the vote be counted as cast without impairment to or loss of a voter's first choice of 

electing the candidate of his or her choice. 

  



90. The Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution protects the right of due 

process. 

  

91. The Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution protects the right of 

equal protection under the law. 

  

92. The Ninth Amendment of the United States Constitution proclaims that the rights 

enumerated in the Constitution of certain rights, shall not be construed to deny or 

disparage other rights retained by the people. 

  

93. The Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution protects the First 

Amendment protections of the right to vote and assurance of the vote be counted as cast 

without impairment to or loss of a voter's first choice of electing the candidate of his or 

her choice from state infringement. 

  

94. An act that threatens to interfere "with or dilute the act of voting for a candidate of an 

individual's choice violates the First, Fourteenth, and Ninth Amendments of the United 

States Constitution. 

  

95.  The City of Minneapolis Charter amendment affected the provisions governing the 

selection of elected officials under Section 5A, and the method of voting under Section 

5B of the City Charter" and subsequent ordinances or ordinances to implement Instant 

Runoff Voting is a violation of the First, Fourteenth, and Ninth Amendments of the 

United States Constitution. 

  

96. Plaintiffs have been and continue to be damaged because of the Defendants' 

constitutional violations and seek this Court to declare the Defendants acts as 

unconstitutional under the United States Constitution and grant any other relief deemed 

justified. 

  

Claim III 

  

Violation of Minnesota Statute § 205.02. 

  

97. The allegations of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated in their entirety by 

reference. 

  

98. The State of Minnesota has passed laws governing general elections in cities and 

Instant Runoff Voting violates the rule of law. 

  

Enacting Instant Runoff Voting Violates 

the Rule of Law Embodied in Minnesota Statutes 

Expressly Governing Cities' General Elections State 

Laws that Can not be Superseded Through 

Enactments of City Charter Amendments. 



  

99. A city charter provision when in conflict with state law is subsequent to that state law 

when the legislature expressly withholds or limits powers of cities to regulate local 

matters. 

  

100. Minnesota Statute § 205.02 (2006) prohibits home-rule charter cities, such as 

Minneapolis, to control municipal general elections. 

  

101. Minn. Stat. § 205.02, Subd. 2 states (parenthesis added): 

In all statutory and home rule charter cities, the primary, general and 

special elections held for choosing city officials and deciding public 

questions relating to the city shall be held as provided in this chapter 

except that sections 205.065, subdivisions 4 to 7 (primaries); 205.07, 

subdivision 3 (effect of ordinance changing day of municipal general 

election); 205.10 (special elections); 205.121( nominating petitions); and 

205, subdivision 2 and 3 (ballot forms), do not apply to a city whose 

charter provides the manner of holding its primary, general or special 

elections. 

  

102. Minn. Stat. § 205.02 is the rule of law governing a city's general election and 

ensures a systems of consistent election procedures statewide. 

  

103. The City of Minneapolis charter amendment and subsequent enactment of ordinance 

or ordinances implementing Instant Runoff Voting is in violation of Minnesota's rule of 

law. 

  

104. Plaintiffs have been and continue to be damaged because of the Defendant City of 

Minneapolis' violations of Minnesota state law and seek this Court to declare the City 

acts as violative of the rule of law and grant any other relief deemed justified. 

  

Claim IV 

  

Violation of Minnesota Statutes Governing Election Contests 

  

105. The allegations of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated in their entirety by 

reference. 

  

Minneapolis Adoption of Instant Runoff Voting Through its Charter Amendment 

Conflicts with the State's 

Statutory Procedures Regarding Election Contests 

  

106. John Malone, Ronald D. Moey, Laura L. Morales, Craig Bartlett, Karen Evelyn 

Mathias, and Daniel John Mathias are eligible voters. 

  



107. The State of Minnesota has expressly reserved and limited the powers of any 

Minnesota city government concerning procedures and rights afforded to eligible voters 

regarding election contests. 

  

108. Minnesota city governments may not interfere with the Minnesota legislature's 

powers to enact laws regarding procedures governing election contests. 

  

109. Minnesota Statute § 209.02 provides for the challenge by "any eligible voter" to 

contest the election of "any person for whom the voter had the right to vote if that person 

is declared ... elected to the municipal, school ... office." 

  

110. Minnesota Statute § 209.02 allows the challenge by an eligible voter to be brought 

"over the question of who received the largest number of votes legally cast...." 

  

111. Minnesota Statute § 209.02 provides for consistent election contest procedures 

statewide. 

  

112. Minnesota Statute § 209.02 does not provide for an election contest procedure for 

Instant Runoff Voting. It only covers elections that concern "who received the largest 

number of votes." 

  

113. The Minneapolis amendment to its Charter adopting Instant Runoff Voting, 

including any subsequent adoption of ordinances to implement Instant Runoff Voting, 

conflicts with Minnesota's election contest statutes. 

  

114. Minnesota's election contest laws, as described in the preceding paragraph, pre-empt 

any inconsistent municipal law. 

  

115. Instant Runoff Voting, including any subsequent adoption of ordinances to 

implement Instant Runoff Voting, is thus statutorily impermissible because it conflicts 

with Minnesota's election contest laws - including Minnesota Statute § 209.02. 

  

116. Plaintiffs have been and continue to be damaged because of the Defendant City of 

Minneapolis' Instant Runoff Voting conflicts with Minnesota's election contest laws and 

seek this Court to declare the City acts as invalid and grant any other relief deemed 

justified. 

  

Claim V 

  

Violation of Constitutional Right to Written Election Contest Procedure 

  

117. The allegations of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated in their entirety by 

reference. 

  



Minneapolis Adoption of Instant Runoff Voting Without a Written Election Contest 

Procedure 

Is a Violation of Constitutional Rights. 

  

118. John Malone, Ronald D. Moey, Laura L. Morales, Craig Bardett, Karen Evelyn 

Mathias, and Daniel John Mathias are eligible voters. 

  

119. Plaintiffs have a constitutional right under the Federal and Minnesota Constitutions 

to clearly-defined election contest procedures. 

  

120. If Minnesota Statute § 209.02 does not apply to and does not pre-empt Minneapolis 

Instant Runoff Voting scheme, then Minneapolis Instant Runoff Voting is 

constitutionally infirm because there is no written election contest procedure provided 

therein at all. 

  

121. In order to be constitutional, Minneapolis Instant Runoff scheme must have an 

election contest procedure separate and apart from Minnesota Statute §209.02 which does 

not apply - it does not. So, it's unconstitutional. 

  

122. Plaintiffs have been and continue to be damaged because of the Defendant City of 

Minneapolis' constitutional violations and seek this Court to declare the City acts as 

unconstitutional under the Minnesota and United States Constitution and grant any other 

relief deemed justified. 

  

Claim VI 

  

Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

  

123. The allegations of the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated in their 

entirety by reference. 

  

124. Plaintiffs must be assured their vote is counted and cast without impairment to or 

loss of a voter's first choice of electing the candidate of his or her choice as 

constitutionally protected under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United 

States Constitution. 

  

  

125. The voting method identified as Single Transferable Vote (Ranked Choice Voting or 

Instant Runoff Voting) dilutes or threatens to interfere and does interfere with an 

individual citizen's act of voting. 

  

126. The City of Minneapolis is unconstitutionally violating the rights of the Plaintiffs 

under dle applicable provisions of the First and Fourteenth Amendments of the United 

States Constitution. 

  



127. Plaintiffs have been and continue to be damaged because of the Defendant City of 

Minneapolis' constitutional violations and seek this Court to declare the City acts as 

unconstitutional under the United States Constitution and grant any other relief deemed 

justified. 

  

Prayer for Relief 

  

Wherefore, Plaintiffs respectively pray for judgment from the Court as follows: 

  

1. For a declaratory judgment against the City of Minneapolis for violating the Plaintiffs 

constitutional rights under the Minnesota Constitution; 

  

2. Finding the City of Minneapolis Charter, Chapter 2, Sections 5A and 5B governing the 

conduct of elections and voting method as adopting the Single Transfer Vote a/k/a 

Ranked Choice, or Instant Runoff Voting unconstitutional under the Minnesota 

Constitution; 

  

3. Finding the City of Minneapolis ordinances enacted as procedures for Single Transfer 

Vote a/k/a Ranked Choice, or Instant Runoff Voting unconstitutional under the 

Minnesota Constitution; 

  

4. For a declaratory judgment against the City of Minneapolis for violating the Plaintiffs' 

constitutional rights under the United States Constitution; 

  

5. Finding the City of Minneapolis Charter, Chapter 2, Sections 5A and 5B governing the 

conduct of elections and voting method as adopting the Single Transfer Vote a/k/a 

Ranked Choice, or Instant Runoff Voting unconstitutional under the United States 

Constitution; 

  

6. Finding the City of Minneapolis ordinances enacted as procedures for Single Transfer 

Vote a/k/a Ranked Choice, or Instant Runoff Voting unconstitutional under the United 

States Constitution; 

  

7. Finding the City of Minneapolis has violated the civil rights of the Plaintiffs under 42 

U.S.c. § 1983.  

  

8. For attorney fees as allowed under 42 U.S.c. §§ 1983, 1988, and any other fees and 

costs applicable by law for the unconstitutional actions of the City of Minneapolis against 

all Plaintiffs; 

  

9. For a declaratory judgment against the City of Minneapolis finding that the City 

violated the rule of law under Minnesota Statute § 205.02 governing general elections 

through the passage of Chapter 2, Sections 5A and 5B governing the conduct of elections 

and voting method as adopting the Single Transfer Vote a/k/a Ranked Choice, or Instant 

Runoff Voting; 



  

10. For a declaratory judgment against the City of Minneapolis finding that the City 

violated the rule of law under Minnesota Statute § 205.02 governing general elections 

through the passage of ordinances to enact procedures for the use of the Single Transfer 

Vote a/k/a Ranked Choice, or Instant Runoff Voting; 

  

11. For a declaratory judgment against the City of Minneapolis finding that the City 

violated the law under Minnesota Statute § 209 governing election contests through the 

passage of Chapter 2, Sections 5A and 5B governing the conduct of elections and voting 

method as adopting the Single Transfer Vote a/k/a Ranked Choice, or Instant Runoff 

Voting; 

  

12. For a declaratory judgment against the City of Minneapolis finding that the City 

violated the rule of law under Minnesota Statute § 205.02 governing election contests 

through the passage of ordinances to enact procedures for the use of the Single Transfer 

Vote a/k/a Ranked Choice, or Instant Runoff Voting; 

  

13. For all litigation costs, costs, expenses, and expert witness fees allowed by law; and 

  

14. For such other and further relief as this Court deems just and equitable. 

  

MOHRMAN & KAARDAL, P.A. 

  

Dated: August 4, 2008 
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